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A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND THE DECISION BELOW 

Randy Hamilton, petitioner here and appellant below, asks this 

Court to grant review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b) of the decision of the Court 

of Appeals in State v. Hamilton, No. 76819-1-I, filed March 18, 2019. A 

copy of the opinion is attached as an appendix.  

B. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. Whether the Court should accept review where the Court of 

Appeals affirmed the provision of a first aggressor instruction yet no 

evidence supported the notion that Hamilton’s approach or innocuous 

question to Friel with slightly open palms was reasonably likely to 

provoke a belligerent response and where the opinion elucidates confusion 

surrounding the provision of first aggressor instructions? RAP 13.4(b)(1)-

(4). 

2. Whether the Court should accept review because the State failed 

to disprove self-defense beyond a reasonable doubt where Hamilton and a 

third-party concurred that Friel acted threateningly when he removed his 

eyeglasses and even Friel testified he did it because he was about to fight 

Hamilton? RAP 13.4(b)(3), (4). 

3. Whether the Court should accept review of the trial court’s 

unconstitutional comments on the evidence, telling the jury “that [only] 

one witness” had testified about Friel’s sucker punches when, in fact, a 
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second witness—the defendant, Randy Hamilton—had also testified about 

Friel’s sucker punches? RAP 13.4(b)(3), (4).  

4. Whether the Court should accept review of the prosecutor’s 

misconduct from misstating the record, inserting his personal opinion, and 

quoting a source that was not part of the record to vouch for his argument? 

RAP 13.4(b)(3), (4). 

5. Whether the Court should accept review to determine if 

cumulative error deprived Hamilton of his constitutional right to a fair 

trial? RAP 13.4(b)(3). 

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Randy Hamilton, who earns his living as a karaoke disc jockey, 

became close friends with regular customer Eric Friel. RP 193, 305, 320-

21.1 By December 2015, their friendship had soured due to conflict over 

Hamilton’s karaoke business. RP 170-71, 195-96, 199, 324. 

At a December 11 karaoke show, Hamilton saw Friel glaring at 

him throughout the night, but Hamilton was afraid if he asked Friel about 

it, Friel would start swinging at him right there and then; Hamilton mostly 

                                            
1 The verbatim report of proceedings are contained in two 

consecutively paginated sets. The first set is a single volume containing 

hearings dated 1/29/16, 11/30/16, and 3/2/17. The pages from this volume 

are cited as “RP (1/29/16)” followed by the page number. The other four 

volumes comprise a consecutively paginated set (including corrected 

volumes 3 and 4) referred to simply as “RP” followed by the page number. 
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tried to concentrate on his show. RP 349-51; see RP 362 (Hamilton 

readied his gear so he could get out of there quickly after the show to 

avoid Friel); RP 397-98 (friend confirms Friel was glaring at Hamilton). 

Due to the rift in their friendship, Friel did not think Hamilton would let 

him sing any songs that night, and Friel thought Hamilton cast him a 

condescending look while a friend was singing. RP 199-200, 216; see RP 

385, 389, 402-04 (others testify Hamilton was in a good mood that night); 

RP 406 (Hamilton did not do anything to disparage Friel). Friel did not 

like Hamilton’s look. RP 216. 

Friel drank a lot of alcohol at the show. RP 177-78 (girlfriend 

testifies, “he wasn’t wasted but he was pretty drunk”), 197-98 (Friel felt 

drunk after drinking three or four 32 ounce beers and shots of Fireball), 

277, 348. He was drunk by the end of the night. RP 216, 223, 257-58.  

While Hamilton was on his way to his car at the end of the night, 

he came upon Friel standing just outside the exit smoking a cigarette with 

friend Chris Camp, who stood in the path to Hamilton’s car. RP 201, 277-

78; 317, 352-57. Hamilton did not know Camp well and was concerned 

Friel and Camp might be planning to “ambush” him. RP 352-54, 356. 

Hamilton asked Friel whether Friel had anything to say to him: “What do 

you want to talk to me about?” RP 201, 277-78-79, 281. Hamilton made a 

very common movement while asking this question—he opened his palms 
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and spread his arms slightly. RP 201, 277-78, 281; see Exhibit 11 

(surveillance video).2  

Friel did not respond verbally; instead, he looked away from 

Hamilton, flicked his cigarette, and removed his eyeglasses. RP 201-02, 

222-23, 279. Hamilton knew Friel often took off his eyeglasses before he 

threw a punch or got into a fight. E.g., RP 354-55. Camp thought Friel 

removed his glasses because he was preparing to fight Hamilton. RP 281-

82. Camp would have taken it as a threat. RP 282. A police officer 

confirmed Friel’s removal of his glasses was a “pre-attack indicator.” RP 

300.  

Hamilton also knew Friel drank a lot of alcohol that night. RP 358-

59. And Hamilton already suffered from a bad back and did not want to 

get injured further. RP 353-54. He protected himself by “instinct[ively]” 

throwing a punch at Friel, who fell and broke his nose. RP 201-02, 204, 

252-53, 279, 354-57. 

The State charged Hamilton with second degree assault. CP 1-2, 

13-14.3 Hamilton contested the charge, asserting he hit Friel in self-

defense. E.g., CP 5 (notice of intent to rely on self-defense). 

                                            
2 A fuller version of the surveillance video was presented as 

defense exhibit 32. 
3 Two other charges were dismissed prior to trial. CP 13-23 

(amended information and order dismissing count two); RP 3-4, 66-67. 
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At trial, evidence showed Friel frequently fought other people and 

Hamilton knew it. RP 204-05 (Friel “can’t remember” how many fights he 

has been in, but estimates 20), 328-30, 337-47. His nose has been broken a 

couple times and Friel boasted about his fighting prowess: he told friends 

that people “will remember my name” if they got into a fight with him. RP 

181, 238-40; see RP 328-29 (Hamilton testifies Friel “was very confident 

in his fighting ability. He was good at hurting people.”). Friel was even 

more likely to act aggressively when he was drunk, which Hamilton also 

knew. RP 358-59. Hamilton also knew Friel sometimes removed his 

eyeglasses immediately before he entered into a fight. RP 344; see RP 235 

(Friel’s testimony that he removes glasses).  

The jury learned that Friel was known to throw sucker punches—

Hamilton himself testified about this as did another witness, Justin Mason. 

RP 338-40, 346, 376. 

The trial also showed other friends knew about Friel’s inclination 

to fight after removing his eyeglasses. RP 180-83 (testimony of Friel’s 

girlfriend that he gets in fights and takes his glasses off first), 204-05 

(Friel is known to get in fights), 237-38 (Friel acknowledges reputation for 

taking off his glasses before he gets into a fight), 375-76, 380-84. 

Hamilton’s defense focused on self-defense. Between his 

knowledge of Friel’s likelihood of engaging in a fight and his need to 
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protect his injured back, Hamilton went into “survival mode.” RP 347-48, 

353-54. “As soon as the cigarette went down I knew it was going to be a 

fight . . . I’m not waiting for him to do what he does to everybody else, 

and I threw a punch. Wasn’t really aiming at anything, just threw a punch 

out of instinct, survival instinct.” RP 354. Hamilton testified he reacted 

“reflex[ively]” to “get [himself] out of danger.” RP 355. 

Friel testified during the State’s case.4 He said Hamilton asked 

Friel if he had something to say to Hamilton, as Hamilton spread his arms. 

Friel thought to himself “oh, shit, here we go” and removed his 

eyeglasses. RP 201-02. Camp testified Hamilton’s question was not very 

friendly, but Camp did not think Hamilton acted aggressively or that Friel 

removed his glasses in response to aggression from Hamilton. RP 283, 

284-85. 

The court instructed the jury on the lawful use of force in self-

defense. CP 50-53; RP 417-18. However, over Hamilton’s objection, the 

court also provided the jury with a first aggressor instruction. CP 54; RP 

414-17, 425-26. The instruction removed the issue of self-defense from 

the jury if it found Hamilton’s conduct provoked or commenced the fight 

and he was the aggressor. Id. (instruction 15).  

                                            
4 Friel did not testify from his memory of the event but from what 

he had recently viewed in the surveillance video. E.g., RP 226-27, 232-33. 
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The jury ultimately convicted Hamilton of second-degree assault. 

CP 57. Hamilton moved for a new trial, arguing no reasonable juror could 

have found the absence of self-defense beyond a reasonable doubt and 

providing the first aggressor instruction was an irregularity and error of 

law that materially affected the outcome of the trial. CP 58-68 (motion); 

RP 506-12; RP (1/29/16) 27-62 (hearing on motion). The court recognized 

the propriety of the first aggressor instruction would be an interesting 

issue for the Court of Appeals that should be resolved before Hamilton 

served his sentence. RP 515-19, 542-43. However, the court found 

conflicting evidence justified the instruction and sentenced Hamilton to a 

six-month suspended sentence. Id.; CP 89-99 (judgment and sentence). 

The Court of Appeals affirmed. See generally Slip Op. 

D. ARGUMENT 

1. The Court should accept review because the opinion 

below elucidates confusion surrounding first 

aggressor instructions.  

 

Over Hamilton’s objection, the jury was instructed: 

No person may, by an intentional act reasonably likely to 

provoke a belligerent response, create a necessity for acting 

in self-defense and thereupon use, offer, or attempt to use 

force upon or toward another person. Therefore, if you find 

beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant was the 

aggressor, and that defendant’s acts and conduct provoked 

or commenced the fight, then self-defense is not available 

as a defense. 
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CP 54 (instruction 15); RP 414-17, 425-26.  

 This Court has already warned first aggressor instructions are 

“disfavored.” State v. Riley, 137 Wn.2d 904, 910 n.2, 976 P.2d 624 

(1999). Aggressor instructions negate a defendant’s self-defense claim, 

“effectively and improperly removing it from the jury’s consideration.” 

State v. Douglas, 128 Wn. App. 555, 563, 116 P.3d 1012 (2005). That 

increased burden runs counter to the constitutional requirement that the 

State bears the burden of disproving self-defense beyond a reasonable 

doubt. Riley, 137 Wn.2d at 910 n.2. In fact, “[f]ew situations come to 

mind where the necessity for an aggressor instruction is warranted.” State 

v. Wasson, 54 Wn. App. 156, 161, 772 P.2d 1039, rev. denied, 113 Wn.2d 

1014 (1989); accord WPIC 16.04 comment (“[f]irst aggressor instructions 

should be used sparingly because the other self-defense instructions will 

generally be sufficient to allow the theory of the case be argued”). 

a. Although it is in the name, aggressiveness is not the 

legal standard. 

 
An aggressor instruction is appropriate only “[w]here there is 

credible evidence from which a jury can reasonably determine that the 

defendant provoked the need [for the alleged victim] to act in self-

defense.” Riley, 137 Wn.2d at 909-10. To justify a first aggressor 

instruction, Hamilton’s open-palmed gesture, and not his punch, must 
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have been an act of aggression that entitled Friel to respond in lawful self-

defense. State v. Bea, 162 Wn. App. 570, 577, 254 P.3d 948 (act 

warranting first aggressor instruction must be distinct from charged 

conduct), rev. denied, 173 Wn.2d 1003, 271 P.3d 248 (2011). 

The question is not whether Hamilton’s slightly spread arms down 

at his waist, open palms, and innocuous question was “aggressive.” 

Instead, the question is whether the evidence showed Hamilton’s common 

gesture could reasonably be said to have entitled Friel to act in lawful self-

defense. Only if Friel had the right to act in belligerent (but lawful) self-

defense could Hamilton have constituted the first aggressor.  

In contrast to the evidence presented about Friel’s propensity to 

fight when drunk and to remove his glasses before he punches someone (a 

“pre-attack indicator”), the State presented no evidence that Hamilton’s 

open gesture and innocuous question would be reasonably likely to 

provoke a belligerent response.  

Friel testified that Hamilton spread his arms as he asked Friel 

whether he had anything to say to Hamilton. RP 201. Friel did not say he 

believed then that Hamilton was going to initiate a fight. See RP 201-02. 

Friel only testified that he thought, “Oh, shit, here we go.” RP 201. 

He turns to me, and he spreads his arms and says: Do you   

got something to say to me? I looked at Chris, and I said:   

Oh, shit, here we go. 
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RP 201; see also RP 202 (“If I’m going to get hit I’m going to take my 

glasses off because I don’t want the metal to pierce my eye.”). Friel felt 

unthreatened enough to take his eyes off Hamilton and look over to the 

side, away from Hamilton. Id. Chris Camp, a friend of Friel’s, merely 

believed that Hamilton’s question was delivered “with a little bit of 

attitude.” RP 278-79.  

Under this Court’s authority, this little bit of attitude is insufficient 

to be reasonably likely to provoke a belligerent response. State v. Walker, 

136 Wn.2d 767, 966 P.2d 883 (1998) (no right to self-defense instruction 

where defendant never heard victim make any death threats against him, 

victim was not portrayed as being violent, and prior to fight defendant had 

no reasonable grounds to fear injury from victim); State v. Currie, 74 

Wn.2d 197, 443 P.2d 808 (1968) (defendant testified he thought victim 

had a gun, but Court upheld denial of self-defense instruction because 

there was no evidence it was pointed at defendant or defendant was ever 

threatened by victim). 

Unless something particular about the circumstances makes a 

belligerent response reasonably likely, simple questions with a little bit of 

attitude do not merit first aggressor instructions. The State failed to present 

any special circumstances here. 
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The State’s witnesses did not testify Hamilton threatened Friel 

with imminent physical harm. There is no evidence that Hamilton acted 

intentionally to provoke an assault from Friel. See Wasson, 54 Wn. App. at 

159. The evidence was insufficient to warrant a first aggressor instruction, 

which defeated Hamilton’s self-defense claim. 

b. The Court of Appeals misinterpreted case law when 

it found a conflict warranted providing the 

instruction. 

 
While conflicting evidence can form a basis for providing a first 

aggressor instruction, the conflict must derive from whether defendant’s 

conflict reasonably provoked a belligerent response. Riley, 137 Wn.2d at 

909-10; see Slip Op. at 6-7. For example, the instruction is appropriate if 

there is conflicting evidence as to which party first withdrew their weapon. 

E.g., State v. Hughes, 106 Wn.2d 176, 191-92, 721 P.2d 902 (1986); State 

v. Richmond, 3 Wn. App. 2d 423, 432-33, 415 P.3d 1208 (2018). 

The agreed timeline and evidence here stands in contrast the actual 

conflict presented in Richmond, 3 Wn. App. 2d 423. In Richmond, each 

side had a different theory as to who first drew their weapon (i.e. when) 

and in what manner. Id. at 433. “According to the State’s witnesses, Mr. 

Richmond armed himself with a [four-foot-long] two-by-four and ran 

outside his home” towards Higginbotham. Id.; accord id. at 427-28. 

Richmond, on the other hand, contended he merely stood on his porch and 
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reached for the two-by-four after Mr. Higginbotham came at him with 

what appeared to be a knife. Id. at 433. Division Three found sufficient 

conflicting evidence as to who provoked the fight and who drew their 

weapon first to warrant a first aggressor instruction. Id. at 434-35. 

Because the evidence here did not conflict as to the timeline of 

events or the facts leading to the charged conduct, the Court of Appeals 

misinterpreted this Court’s case law in holding a conflict warranted the 

first aggressor instruction. See Slip Op. at 7. 

2. The Court should accept review and hold the State 

failed to disprove that Hamilton acted in self-

defense.  

 

The State bears the burden of proving each element of the crime 

charged beyond a reasonable doubt. Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 

466, 490, 120 S. Ct. 2348, 147 L. Ed. 2d 435 (2000); In re Winship, 397 

U.S. 358, 90 S. Ct. 1068, 25 L. Ed. 2d 368 (1970); U.S. Const. amend. 

XIV; Const. art. I, § 3. Once evidence of self-defense is presented, the 

State bears the burden of proving the absence of self-defense beyond a 

reasonable doubt. State v. Acosta, 101 Wn.2d 612, 616, 619, 683 P.2d 

1069 (1984). Because self-defense is a lawful act, the State bears the 

burden of showing beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant had no 

right to defend himself under the circumstances. State v. McCullum, 98 
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Wn.2d 484, 495, 656 P.2d 1064 (1983); State v. Walden, 131 Wn.2d 469, 

473-74, 932 P2.d 1237 (1997). 

The opinion below contends the State presented sufficient evidence 

because a reasonable juror could view the surveillance video and conclude 

“Hamilton was not afraid of being ambushed” and “looking for a 

confrontation.” Slip Op. at 10. But neither of these conclusion defeat 

Hamilton’s claim of self-defense.  

Indeed extensive evidence supported Hamilton’s defense: 

Hamilton knew Friel was a frequent fighter, that he fought more when he 

was drunk, and that he removed his eyeglasses immediately prior to 

fighting. RP 204-05, 328-30, 337-47, 358-59. Hamilton testified he 

believed Friel was about to sucker punch him. RP 347-48. Camp 

concurred that Friel acted threateningly when he removed his eyeglasses, 

as if he was about to fight Hamilton. RP 281-82; see RP 237-38 (Friel 

conceded his reputation for taking off glasses before getting into a fight). 

Even law enforcement confirmed Friel’s removal of his glasses was a 

“pre-attack indicator.” RP 300.  

On the other hand, the State did not present evidence to negate the 

defense. Friel merely testified that when Hamilton came outside and asked 

him a question, he knew they were going to get into a fight. RP 201-02. 

Moreover, Friel could not have believed Hamilton would strike first 
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because Friel unconcernedly took his eyes off Hamilton and turned away. 

RP 22-23. While Friel believed Hamilton was upset with him that night, 

there was no evidence that Hamilton assaults people when he is upset. 

Friel even testified Hamilton’s comment was “probably not” a “big deal.” 

RP 216-17 (Friel testified Hamilton’s comment to him was “probably not” 

a “big deal”). Even in the light most favorable to the State, the evidence 

fails to disprove self-defense beyond a reasonable doubt. 

3. The Court should accept review and hold the 

prosecutor committed misconduct by claiming no 

evidence supported Hamilton’s argument and the 

court commented on the evidence in ruling on the 

objection.  

 

The following exchange during the prosecutor’s closing argument 

prejudiced Hamilton and should be reviewed by the Court: 

Again, because this was talked about, sucker puncher that 

was the term, I submit to you that was continually used by 

defense counsel but was not actually evidence in the trial 

brought up by witnesses, right? But in this case who 

actually was the sucker puncher? It certainly wasn’t Mr. 

Friel.  

 

MR. VOLLUZ: Your Honor, I’m sorry to object but just to 

bring up the fact that it was Justin Bates, who characterized 

the punch he got from Mr. Friel, as a sucker punch. 

 

THE COURT: Members of the jury, I believe there were  

some statements from that one witness in that regard. 

However as we previously instructed you are the 

determiners of the evidence. What you heard has been 

described and the descriptions by the attorneys are not the 
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evidence or not the law. You have to rely upon your 

memory as to what the witnesses testified to.  

 

RP 457-58. 

First, the prosecutor argued no evidence supported that Friel threw 

sucker punches when, in fact, both Justin Mason and Randy Hamilton had 

presented such testimony. RP 338-40, 346 (Hamilton’s testimony that 

Friel sucker punched Jason Mason and Eric Bates); RP 376 (Mason’s 

testimony describing Friel’s style as a sucker punch). Thus, this argument 

misstated the evidence. State v. Walker, 182 Wn.2d 463, 476-77, 341 P.3d 

976 (2015); In re Pers. Restraint of Glasmann, 175 Wn.2d 696, 703-05, 

286 P.3d 673 (2012) (prosecutor prohibited from altering evidence 

presented at trial). 

Then, upon Hamilton’s objection, the trial court commented on the 

evidence by relaying to the jury that only Justin Mason produced evidence 

about Friel’s sucker punches. See Const. art. IV, § 6. The court failed to 

acknowledge Hamilton’s testimony on the same topic. The Court of 

Appeals disposed of the error by holding the trial court merely repeated 

the same mischaracterization as the defense objection and therefore could 

not have commented on the evidence. Slip Op. at 14. But, defense counsel 

did not limit the sucker punch testimony to “one witness.” See RP 457-58. 

The defense objection noted Bates “characterized” the behavior as a 
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sucker punch—without any limitation on other witnesses having repeated 

that characterization or otherwise testified about Friel’s propensity. Id. 

The trial court responded to the objection by inserting such limitations. Id. 

A reasonable juror would have concluded from the court’s ruling that it 

intended the jury to disregard Hamilton’s additional testimony on this 

topic. State v. Levy, 156 Wn.2d 709, 721, 132 P.3d 1076 (2006); State v. 

Lane, 125 Wn.2d 825, 838, 889 P.2d 929 (1995). 

Moreover, the Court of Appeals acknowledged the trial court 

“commented on the evidence,” but reasoned it was somehow not an error 

because it only did so “to rule on the defense’s objection.” Slip Op. at 14. 

There is no logical or legal basis to absolve a trial court’s comment on the 

evidence when the unconstitutional comment is done in the context of a 

defense objection. This Court should accept review. 

4. The Court should accept review of additional 

instances of misconduct and consider the cumulative 

effect of the errors.  

 

The Court should also accept review of the prosecutor’s additional 

misconduct—inserting his personal belief and relying on an unspecified 

extra-record legal authority—and examine the cumulative effect of the 

errors. 

 A prosecutor commits misconduct by expressing his personal 

belief in the evidence. State v. Monday, 171 Wn.2d 667, 677, 257 P.3d 
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551 (2011); State v. Brett, 126 Wn.2d 136, 175, 892 P.2d 29 (1995). When 

the prosecutor states “I believe him” about a witness, the prosecutor 

expresses his personal belief in the evidence. Brett, 126 Wn.2d at 175. 

 Here, the prosecutor told the jury what the prosecutor’s own 

opinion was: It “looked like a hard hit to me.” RP 433. The language used 

makes clear the prosecutor was expressing his personal opinion. See State 

v. Warren, 165 Wn.2d 17, 30, 195 P.3d 940 (2008) (closing argument that 

expresses prosecutor’s personal opinion is improper). Moreover, the 

prosecutor opined directly on issues before the jury—whether Hamilton 

recklessly inflicted substantial bodily harm. CP 45, 48, 49 (jury 

instructions). 

The argument improperly placed the imprimatur of the government 

behind one view of the evidence, and erroneously told the jury the 

prosecutor’s personal opinion. See United States v. Ortiz, 362 F.3d 1274, 

1278 (9th Cir. 2004) (improper vouching results from government placing 

its prestige behind a witness).   

 The prosecutor committed further misconduct when he used a 

quote from an unspecified source to place additional prestige behind his 

argument. RP 475-76.  

I came across a quote that I think sums up why we use the 

phrase reasonable. Instead of just doing some type of  

projected belief of the actor, the defendant, in this case it  
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says: Applying a purely subjective standard in all cases 

would give free range of the short tempered, the 

pugnacious, the foolhardily who seek threats of harm where 

the rest of us would not blind themselves to opportunity for 

escape that seemed plainly available. That seems more 

applicable here. 

 

Id.  

The quote was from an unspecified, out-of-record source and 

discusses only a portion of the self-defense standard employed in 

Washington.5 See State v. Estill, 80 Wn.2d 196, 199, 492 P.2d 1037 

(1972). While Washington does not employ the “purely subjective” 

standard derided in the prosecutor’s quote, the defendant’s subjective 

knowledge is relevant to inform whether he acted as a reasonable person 

in his position would act. E.g., Riley, 137 Wn.2d at 909; McCullum, 98 

Wn.2d at 488 (“The jury are [sic] entitled to stand as nearly as practicable 

in the shoes of defendant, and from this point of view determine the 

character of the act.”).  

By using the quote without attribution, the prosecutor sought to 

bolster his own argument, suggesting to the jury that it was not simply the 

prosecutor’s argument but that it was backed by the wisdom of the ages. 

                                            
5 This Court recited the quote and attributed it to Professor Susan 

Estrich in State v. Janes, 121 Wn.2d 220, 240, 850 P.2d 495 (1993) 

(quoting Professor Susan Estrich, Defending Women, 88 Mich. L. Rev. 

1430, 1435 (1990) (reviewing Cynthia Gillespie, Justifiable Homicide: 

Battered Women, Self–Defense and the Law (1989))). 
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Moreover, the source of the quote was not in the record, it was not part of 

the evidence, and it was not the court’s instructions on the law. See State 

v. Brush, 183 Wn.2d 550, 557, 353 P.3d 213 (2015) (it is the trial court’s 

duty to declare the law); State v. Pierce, 169 Wn. App. 533, 553, 280 P.3d 

1158 (2012) (a prosecutor commits reversible misconduct by urging jury 

to decide a case based on information outside the record). 

These arguments were flagrant and ill-intentioned acts of 

misconduct and they were not curable by an instruction. State v. Emery, 

174 Wn.2d 741, 763, 278 P.3d 653 (2014); State v. Fleming, 83 Wn. App. 

209, 214, 921 P.2d 1076 (1996) (prosecutorial misconduct flagrant and ill-

intentioned where error set forth in prior decision); State v. Alexander, 64 

Wn. App. 147, 155-56, 822 P.2d 1250 (1982). Even if the court had 

instructed the jury not to consider the prosecutor’s statement that the hit 

looked like a hard one, the jurors would not forget the prosecutor’s 

personal belief. See Emery, 174 Wn.2d at 763 (implicating believability of 

defense witnesses and case can engender an inflammatory effect).   

 In addition to considering the individual prejudicial effect of these 

errors, the Court should accept review to determine their cumulative 

impact on Hamilton’s right to a constitutionally fair trial. U.S. Const. 

amend. XIV; Const. art. I, § 3. 
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E. CONCLUSION 

Hamilton respectfully requests the Court accept review of the 

above issues. 

Respectfully submitted this 17th day of April, 2019.   

    
s/ Gregory Link    ___________________ 
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MANN, A.C.J. - Randy Hamilton appeals his conviction of assault in the second 

degree under RCW 9A.36.021 (1 )(a) for punching Eric Friel. Hamilton argues: (1) that 

the court erred by giving a first aggressor instruction, (2) the State failed to prove the 

absence of self-defense beyond a reasonable doubt, (3) the trial court committed 

prejudicial error by commenting on the evidence, and (4) that the prosecutor committed 

misconduct during closing argument. We affirm. 

I. 

On the evening of Friday, December 11, 2015, Friel and his partner, Darlene 

Howerton, went to a bar at Riverside Lanes in Mount Vernon for Friday night karaoke. 

The karaoke show was hosted by Hamilton. Friel and Howerton were regulars at 
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Hamilton's weekly show. Christopher Camp, another friend, accompanied Friel and 

Howerton as a designated driver. 

Hamilton and Friel were close friends for several years before the December 

2015 incident. Friel and Hamilton's relationship, however, was recently strained. 

Hamilton suspected Friel was stealing his karaoke business by hosting his own karaoke 

· nights at his house.1 

Toward the middle of the night on December 11, a friend of Friel's wanted Friel to 

sing a karaoke song and offered to take Friel's song slip up to Hamilton. Hamilton 

refused to play the song. Later in the night, another friend was singing a song with the 

words "got a good woman at home" and Hamilton said over the microphone, "so does 

Eric [Friel]," or "I bet Eric [Friel] does too." Friel took Hamilton's comment as 

condescending, because at the time he was unemployed and being supported by 

Howerton. 

As the night was ending, Hamilton packed up some of his karaoke gear and took 

it to his car in the back-parking lot. Hamilton started his car to let it warm up and then 

went back into Riverside Lanes to finish cleaning up. Hamilton and the State presented 

conflicting stories of the events that happened next. 

According to the State, on December 12 at about 1 :30 a.m., Friel went out the 

back door of Riverside Lanes with Camp to smoke a cigarette while Howerton paid their 

tab. Camp's car was parked nearby and they were getting ready to leave. The State 

argues that Hamilton came out to confront Friel; he was upset Friel was at the show. 

1 Friel testified that he hosted free shows on the same nights as Hamilton but Friel was under the 
impression that Hamilton got paid regardless of the amount of people who showed up to Hamilton's 
karaoke nights. That was Friel's assumption and not based on anything Hamilton told him. 

2 
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Hamilton walked straight up to Friel and positioned his body in front of him. Hamilton 

held his arms out to the side and said something to the effect of, "What did you want to 

talk to me about?" Friel sensed he was about to be assaulted, flicked his half-smoked 

cigarette away, and removed his glasses. Hamilton then hit Friel with a hard and fast 

left hook to the face. The force of the blow sent Friel back into the glass door he was 

standing next to, which shattered or "spiderweb[bed]." Camp intervened and escorted 

Hamilton away from Friel. After a brief discussion in the interior hallway with Camp, 

Hamilton came out, surveyed the scene, and left. 

According to Hamilton, while he was on his way to the car, he came upon Friel 

and Camp standing just outside the exit smoking a cigarette. Hamilton did not know · 

Camp well and was concerned Friel and Camp might be planning to ambush him. 

Hamilton asked Friel whether Friel had anything to say to him: "What do you want to talk 

to me about?" Hamilton made a common movement while asking this question-he 

opened his palms and spread his arms slightly. Friel did not respond verbally; instead, 

he looked away from Hamilton, flicked his cigarette, and removed his eyeglasses. 

Hamilton knew that Friel took off his glasses before he threw a punch or got into a fight. 

Camp thought Friel removed his glasses because he was preparing to fight Hamilton. 

Hamilton also knew that Friel drank a lot of alcohol that night. Because he suffered 

from a bad back and did not want to get injured further; Hamilton protected himself by 

striking first; he "instinct[ively]" threw a punch at Friel, who fell and broke his nose. 

A surveillance video camera captured the events outside of Riverside Lanes 

without audio. The video shows Hamilton looking at Friel leaning on the wall next to the 

back door. As Hamilton exits Riverside Lanes, he approaches Friel and appears to say 

3 
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something to Friel with both of his arms slightly outstretched with his palms facing 

forward. In the video, as soon as Friel's glasses are in his hand, Hamilton punches Friel 

in the nose. The force pushes Friel into the glass door and Friel falls to the ground. 

The confrontation lasts approximately 6 seconds between the time Hamilton walked 

outside to when Friel hits the ground. Camp, whose back was to the fight, becomes 

aware of the situation and positions himself between Friel and Hamilton, directing 

Hamilton back into the building. At the end of the video footage, Hamilton exits the 

building less than a minute after the fight, walks across the parking lot to his car, and 

drives away. 

The State charged Hamilton with assault in the second degree, malicious 

mischief in the third degree, and harassment. The malicious mischief charge was 

dropped in an amended information and the harassment charge was dismissed on the 

State's voluntary motion to dismiss. 

At trial, Justin Mason, Howerton's son-in-law, testified that he had been in a fight 

with Friel. Mason explained that Howerton and Friel were hosting a party at their home. 

Mason was in the house asleep when he was woken by someone telling him his truck 

was about to be hit. Mason angrily exited the house and bumped into Friel, knocking 

him over. After getting off the ground, Friel "sucker punched" Mason, for no apparent 

reason. Hamilton testified that he was aware of this altercation. 

Eric Bates, Hamilton's son, testified about a physical altercation with Friel when 

they had a disagreement, which resulted in Friel tackling Bates to the ground. Bates 

also testified that Friel came to his aid in two instances; one, where Bates was jumped 

at a bar, and a second, outside the bar where Bates was engaged in a one-on-one fight. 

4 
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Hamilton witnessed, in the first instance, the altercation in the bar where Friel assisted 

his son. Hamilton stated he was grateful that Friel came to his son's aid. But in the 

second instance, Hamilton intervened, telling Friel to let his son fight one-on-one 

because it was a fair fight. 

Hamilton testified that Friel would attack a person from behind to get an 

advantage, implying that Friel does not fight fair. Hamilton testified that he felt if he 

walked away from Friel, or turned his back to him, Friel may have "sucker punched" 

him. 

At Hamilton's request, the trial court provided the jury with a full range of self­

defense pattern instructions including, 11 WASHINGTON PRACTICE: WASHINGTON PATTERN 

JURY INSTRUCTIONS: CRIMINAL (WPIC) 17.02 (lawful force), 17.04 (explaining actual 

danger is not necessary), and 17 .05 (no duty to retreat). At the State's request the trial 

court also provided an instruction based on WPIC 16.04, which explains the restrictions 

on lawful use of self-defense by a first aggressor.2 Hamilton objected to the first 

aggressor instruction. 

The jury returned a guilty verdict. Hamilton moved for a new trial under CrR 7.4, 

or an arrest of judgment under CrR 7.5. Hamilton argued the State did not prove 

absence of self-defense beyond a reasonable doubt and the first aggressor instruction 

resulted in prejudicial error. The court denied the posttrial motions and stayed 

Hamilton's sentence, pending this appeal. 

2 Instruction 15 read: 
No person may, by any intentional act reasonably likely to provoke a belligerent 

response, create a necessity for acting in self-defense and thereupon use, offer, or 
attempt to use force upon or toward another person. 

Therefore if you find beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant was the 
aggressor, and that defendant's acts and conduct provoked or commenced the fight, then 
self-defense is not available as a defense. 

5 
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11. 

Hamilton first argues that the trial court erred by giving the first aggressor 

instruction. We disagree. 

When there is credible evidence from which a reasonable juror could find that the 

defendant provoked the need to act in self-defense, a first aggressor instruction is 

appropriate. State v. Riley. 134 Wn.2d 904, 909-910, 976 P.2d 624 (1999); State v. 

Sullivan, 196 Wn. App. 277,289, 383 P.3d 574 (2016), review denied, 187 Wn.2d 1023 

(2017). Whether the State produced sufficient evidence to justify the first aggressor 

instruction is a question of law and reviewed de nova. Sullivan, 196 Wn. App. at 289. 

We view the evidence in the light most favorable to the party that requested the 

instruction-here, the State. Sullivan, 196 Wn. App. at 289. The State need only 

produce some evidence that the defendant was the aggressor to meet its burden of 

production. State v. Anderson, 144 Wn. App. 85, 89 180 P.3d 885 (2008) (citing Riley. 

137 Wn.2d at 909). The provoking act must be intentional and one that a "jury could 

reasonably assume would provoke a belligerent response by the victim." State v. 

Wasson, 54 Wn. App. 156, 159, 722 P.2d 1039 (1989). 

An aggressor instruction impacts a defendant's claim of self-defense, which the 

State bears the burden of disproving beyond a reasonable doubt, therefore trial courts 

should exercise care in giving first aggressor instructions. Riley, 137 Wn.2d at n.2. 

'"[A]n aggressor or one who provokes an altercation' cannot successfully invoke 

the right of self-defense." Sullivan, 196 Wn. App. at 289 (quoting Riley. 137 Wn. 2d at 

909). While our Supreme Court has urged care in giving the instruction,3 a first 

3 "While an aggressor instruction should be given where called for by the evidence, an aggressor 
instruction impacts a defendant's claim of self-defense, which the State has the burden of disproving 

6 
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aggressor instruction is appropriate "where (1) the jury can reasonably determine from 

the evidence that the defendant provoked the fight; (2) the evidence conflicts as to 

whether the defendant's conduct provoked the fight; or (3) the evidence shows that the 

defendant made the first move by drawing a weapon." Anderson, 144 Wn. App. at 89 

(citing Riley, 137 Wn.2d at 909-10). "A court errs when it submits an aggressor 

instruction and the evidence shows that the defendant used words alone to provoke the 

fight." Anderson, 144 Wn. App. at 89 (citing Riley, 137 Wn.2d at 909-10). 

Here there was sufficient evidence of at least an evidentiary conflict as to 

whether Hamilton's conduct provoked the fight. As the trial court explained: 

I think Mr. Friel testified that the reason he took off his glasses and threw 
the cigarette away is he thought something was going to start or 
something to that effect ... I think if you look at this video as well, I think 
it's conflicting of who the aggressor was. If you look at the video it's clear 
that Mr. Hamilton came out of the door of the bowling alley. It's 
conceivable the jury could say he's the one that confronted. He could 
have walked past Mr. Friel at the time. He's the one who confronted him .. 
. I think there's enough there of conflicting evidence of who the aggressor 
was, whether the defendant was the one whose conduct really 
precipitated the fight. I think that's a jury decision. I think based upon that 
conflicting evidence I think I'm inclined to give the first aggressor 
instruction along with the self-defense instruction as well. 

We agree. Although words alone are insufficient to warrant a first aggressor 

instruction, Hamilton's body language could be construed by a reasonable juror as 

aggressive. See Riley. 137 Wn.2d at 911. From the surveillance video, it is apparent 

that immediately after exiting Riverside Lanes, Hamilton walked straight to Friel, and 

was close enough physically to Friel that he did not need to take a step forward to 

punch Friel. Hamilton knew that Friel was drunk and had a tendency to be more 

beyond a reasonable doubt. Accordingly, courts should use care in giving an aggressor instruction." 
Riley. 137 Wn.2d at 910, n.2. 

7 
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aggressive when drunk, yet immediately engaged him upon exiting Riverside Lanes. 

Hamilton counters there was testimony by Camp that Hamilton's tone was not 

aggressive, but Hamilton's body language and closeness to Friel could be construed by 

a reasonable juror as aggressive. 

Hamilton argues that he subjectively believed in the moment he saw Friel and 

Camp outside the back door of Riverside Lanes that they were about to ambush him. 

Hamilton indicated he saw Camp standing on the path leading towards the parking lot, 

and thought Camp was intentionally blocking the way to his car. At the same time, Friel 

was standing next to the back door of Riverside Lanes giving Hamilton a menacing look. 

Under those circumstances, Hamilton testified that he was "not turning [his] back on 

[Friel]" because he was concerned Friel would attack him from behind. 

However, Hamilton's testimony is contradicted by both Camp and Friel's 

testimony that they were outside merely waiting for Howerton and smoking a cigarette. 

Additionally, the surveillance footage does not support two men lying in wait for 

Hamilton. Camp has his back to the door when Hamilton exited the building, and did 

not make any aggressive movement towards Hamilton once he realized that Hamilton 

punched Friel. Instead, Camp intervened between Hamilton and Friel, and redirected 

Hamilton back inside Riverside Lanes. Based on the visual evidence in the surveillance 

video, a reasonable juror could have concluded that Hamilton's testimony was not 

credible because he immediately approached Friel and did not look towards Camp's 

direction once Friel fell to the ground, suggesting Hamilton was not truly fearful of either 

Friel or Camp. 

8 
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Based on all the evidence presented by both the State and Hamilton, there is 

sufficient conflicting evidence to warrant a first aggressor instruction. 

111. 

Hamilton next contends that the State failed to prove the absence of self-defense 

beyond a reasonable doubt. We disagree. 

A defendant who claims to have acted in self-defense bears only the obligation to 

produce evidence, from whatever source, tending to establish self-defense. State v. 

Roberts, 88 Wn.2d 337, 345, 562 P.2d 1259 (1977). "The obligation to prove absence 

of self-defense must remain at all times with the prosecution." Roberts, 88 Wn.2d at 

345. The standard of review for whether the State proved the absence of self-defense 

beyond a reasonable doubt is "whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most 

favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential 

elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt." State v. Green, 94 Wn.2d 216, 221, 

616 P.2d 628 (1980). 

"Evidence of self-defense is evaluated 'from the standpoint of the reasonably 

prudent person, knowing all the defendant knows and seeing all the defendant sees."' 

State v. Walden, 131 Wn.2d 469,473, 932 P.2d 1237 (1997). This standard has both 

objective and subjective components. Walden, 131 Wn.2d at 474. The subjective 

component requires the jury to perceive the situation as the defendant perceived it and 

consider all the facts and circumstances known to the defendant at the time of the 

incident. Walden, 131 Wn.2d at 474. The objective component requires the jury to 

determine whether the defendant's actions comport with a reasonably prudent person 

similarly situated as the defendant. Walden, 131 Wn.2d at 474. 

9 
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Hamilton contends that he presented a wealth of evidence to support his self­

defense theory. This includes evidence demonstrating Friel was a frequent fighter, 

fought more when he was drunk, and removed his eyeglasses immediately prior to 

fighting. Additionally, the jury heard evidence from a law enforcement officer that 

removing eyeglasses can be considered a "pre-attack indicator." Hamilton also 

presented evidence that he believed Friel was about to punch him, that Hamilton was 

unfamiliar with Camp, and worried about being ambushed by both Friel and Camp. 

Finally, Hamilton was concerned about his injured back and that Friel may attack him 

from behind if he attempted to walk away. 

However, as the State argues, it presented evidence demonstrating that 

Hamilton was not acting in self-defense. The State presented evidence that this was an 

unprovoked assault, which included Camp's testimony that he considered Hamilton a 

friend, and Camp and Friel's testimony that they were waiting for Howerton to pay the 

bar tab-not lying in wait for Hamilton. The jury also viewed the surveillance footage of 

the incident and could have concluded that Hamilton was not afraid of being ambushed 

by Camp because Hamilton did not look in Camp's direction after assaulting Friel. 

Although Hamilton did not have a duty to retreat, he could have avoided Friel by 

waiting for him to leave or walking around him. Instead, Hamilton immediately engaged 

Friel upon exiting Riverside Lanes, even though the surveillance video demonstrated 

Hamilton had other options at his disposal. A juror weighing the evidence could have 

concluded that since Hamilton immediately engaged Friel, he was looking for 

confrontation. 

10 
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Viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to _the State, a reasonable juror 

could have found that the State proved the absence of self-defense and elements of 

assault beyond a reasonable doubt. 

IV. 

Hamilton next argues that the trial court impermissibly commented on the 

evidence during closing. We disagree. 

The standard of review for a claim of judicial comment on the evidence is 

whether the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Levy. 156 Wn.2d 

709, 712, 132 P .3d 1076 (2006). Under article IV, section 16 of the Washington State 

Constitution, "U]udges shall not charge juries with respect to matters of fact, nor 

comment thereon, but shall declare the law." A failure to object or move for a mistrial 

does not foreclose a defendant from raising the issue on appeal because a comment on 

the evidence is an error of constitutional magnitude. State v. Becker, 132 Wn.2d 54, 64, 

935 P.2d 1321 (1997). 

A statement by the court is an impermissible comment on the evidence if either, 

the court's attitude toward the merits of the case, or the court's evaluation relative to the 

disputed issue is inferable from the statement. State v. Lane, 125 Wn.2d 825, 838, 889 

P .2d 929 (1995). In determining constitutional error, the issue is whether the trial 

court's feeling has been communicated to the jury as to the truth value of the testimony 

of a witness. Lane, 125 Wn.2d at 838. 

If the court's statement was a comment on the evidence a reviewing court will 

presume the comment was prejudicial. Lane, 125 Wn.2d at 838. The burden rests with 

11 
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the State to show that no prejudice resulted "unless it affirmatively appears in the record 

that no prejudice could have resulted from the comment." Lane, 125 Wn.2d at 838-39. 

Hamilton argues the judge's reference to Mason's testimony that Friel sucker 

punched someone in the past could have made a reasonable juror disregard Hamilton's 

own testimony about witnessing Friel sucker punch someone in the past. During 

closing argument, the defense objected to the State's characterization of the evidence 

in the following exchange: 

Mr. Neilsen [State]: Again, because this was talked about, sucker puncher 
that was the term, I submit to you that was continually used by defense 
counsel but was not actually evidence in the trial brought up by the 
witnesses, right? But in this case who actually was the sucker puncher? 
It certainly wasn't Mr. Friel. 

Mr. Volluz [defense]: Your Honor, I'm sorry to object but just to bring up 
the fact that it was Justin Bates, [sic] who characterized the punch he got 
from Mr. Friel, as a sucker punch. 

The Court: Members of the jury, I believe there were some statements 
from that one witness in that regard. However as we previously instructed 
you are the determiners of the evidence. What you heard has been 
described and the descriptions by the attorney are not the evidence or not 
the law. You have to rely upon your memory as to what the witnesses 
testified to.[41 

The defense timely objected but mischaracterized the evidence by failing to 

state that both Justin Mason and Randy Hamilton had testified that Friel sucker 

punched someone in the past and incorrectly identified Eric Bates as the testifying 

witness. The trial court agreed that there was testimony to that effect, but also 

perpetrated the mischaracterization by agreeing with the defense counsel's incorrect 

statement. The court indicated, however, that the jurors must rely on their memory of 

the witnesses' testimony. 

4 (Emphasis added.) 

12 
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We first consider whether the statement by the trial court constitutes a comment 

on the evidence. If a statement made by the trial court relates to a disputed issue of 

fact, then an express conveyance of the judge's opinion to the jury regarding the 

evidence is an impermissible comment on the evidence. Lane, 125 Wn.2d at 839. The 

reviewing court can also focus on whether the comment could have influenced the jury. 

Lane, 125 Wn.2d at 839. 

In Lane, the court commented on a disputed fact which improperly removed the 

issue from the jury's determination. Lane, 125 Wn.2d at 837. Blake, a testifying 

witness, had been released early from jail. Lane, 125 Wn.2d at 836. The defense in 

Lane argued the State released Blake early in exchange for testimony, while the State 

argued Blake's anonymity as an informant was revealed and he was placed in jeopardy, 

requiring early release. Lane, 125 Wn.2d at 836, 839. The court commented on the 

testimony stating: 

The sentence of William Blake was reduced to three months confinement 
and release date of June 8, 1988 given. The reasons advanced by the 
prosecutor and accepted by the judge related to Mr. Blake's safety and an 
inadvertent disclosure near [sic] of Mr. Blake's cooperation with authorities 
given to an unidentified person. Whether that last statement proves or 
does not prove anything is a matter for the jurors. 

Now instruction on the law. The testimony of Mr. Blake regarding prior 
statements of Mr. Anderson may be considered by you in determining Mr. 
Anderson's credibility and for no other purpose. 

Lane, 125 Wn.2d at 837. Our Supreme Court held that the trial court had charged the 

jury with a fact and expressly conveyed his opinion regarding the evidence, and thus the 

statement was an impermissible comment on the evidence. Lane, 125 Wn.2d at 839. 

The court in Lane, however, ultimately held that the constitutional error was harmless. 

13 
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"A constitutional error is harmless if the untainted evidence is so overwhelming that it 

necessarily leads to a finding of guilt." Lane, 125 Wn.2d at 839. 

The State argues that the prosecutor's comment accurately represented the 

evidence because the defense used the term "sucker puncher" during closing, but there 

had been no actual testimony that Friel was a "sucker puncher." In the alternative, the 

State argues that the court did not tell the jury to disregard Hamilton's testimony, and it 

cannot be reasonably inferred that the court was specifically directing the jury to 

disregard Hamilton's testimony because the court did not believe Hamilton. 

The statement by the trial court was not an impermissible comment on the 

evidence. Although neither defense counsel nor the trial court properly characterized 

the evidence, the court cautioned the jurors to use their own recollection of the evidence 

and reminded them that closing argument was not evidence. The court only 

commented on the evidence to rule on the defense's objection. The court agreed with 

defense counsel that there w~s testimony about sucker punching but did not make any 

statement about the testimony that would tend to create the inference that the judge 

believed or disbelieved any of the testimony about sucker punching. 

We conclude that the trial court did not improperly comment on the evidence. 

V. 

Hamilton next argues that the prosecutor committed misconduct during closing 

argument. We disagree. 

Allegations of prosecutorial misconduct are reviewed for abuse of discretion. 

State v. Lindsay, 180 Wn.2d 423, 430, 326 P.3d 125 (2014). "If the defendant fails to 

object or request a curative instruction, the issue of misconduct is waived unless the 
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conduct was so flagrant and ill intentioned that an instruction could not have cured the 

resulting prejudice." Lindsay, 180 Wn.2d at 430. "When reviewing a claim that 

prosecutorial misconduct requires reversal, the court should review the statements in 

the context of the entire case." State v. Thorgerson, 172 Wn.2d 438, 443, 258 P.3d 43 

(2011 ). 

We first consider whether the prosecutor's comments were improper, and if so, 

whether the improper comments caused prejudice. Lindsay, 180 Wn.2d at 431. A 

prosecutor may not express a personal opinion as to credibility of a witness or the guilt 

of a defendant. Lindsay. 180 Wn.2d at 438. Additionally, a prosecutor may not "present 

altered versions of admitted evidence [during closing arguments] to support the State's 

theory of the case." State v. Walker, 182 Wn.2d 463,477,341 P.3d 976 (2015). 

If we find that the prosecutor's comments were improper, a defendant must also 

demonstrate that the statement caused prejudice. Lindsay. 180 Wn.2d at 440. To 

show prejudice, the defendant must show a substantial likelihood that the prosecutor's 

statements affected the jury verdict. Lindsay, 180 Wn.2d at 440. 

Hamilton argues that the prosecutor committed misconduct in three ways: first, 

by arguing no evidence supported Friel being a "sucker puncher," second, by improperly 

inserting his personal belief that the punch Hamilton threw, "looked like a hard hit to 

me," and third, by improperly quoting "unspecified extra-record legal authority." 

The defense timely objected to the first alleged act of misconduct, but failed to 

object during closing, or in a posttrial motion to the second or third alleged acts of 

misconduct. Both the second and third issues were waived because Hamilton failed to 

object and the alleged misconduct does not rise to the level of being so flagrant and ill 
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intentioned that an instruction could not have cured the prejudice that Hamilton alleges. 

Consequently, we only address Hamilton's claim that the prosecutor committed 

misconduct by arguing there was no evidence about Friel being a "sucker puncher." 

A misstatement of the evidence can constitute prosecutorial misconduct. Walker, 

182 Wn.2d at 477. However, prosecutors have "wide latitude to make arguments and 

draw inferences from the evidence." State v. Brown, 132 Wn.2d 529, 565, 940 P.2d 

546 (1997). This claim is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. Lindsay, 180 at 430. 

In Walker, a case where the reviewing court found misconduct, the misconduct 

was the result of a PowerPoint presentation used by the prosecutor during closing 

arguments. Walker, 182 Wn.2d at 477. The presentation was prejudicial to the 

defendant because the prosecutor's personal beliefs about the defendant were 

apparent. Walker, 182 Wn.2d at 477. The court held that the PowerPoint presentation 

was a mischaracterization of the evidence because it contained exhibits altered with 

inflammatory captions and superimposed text, suggestive to the jury that the defendant 

should be convicted because he was callous and greedy, rather than because the State 

proved its case beyond a reasonable doubt. Walker, 182 Wn.2d at 477. 

Here, the State argues that the prosecutor's statement during rebuttal argument 

was not a mischaracterization of the evidence because the prosecutor was responding 

to the defense's repeated characterization of testimony that Friel is a "sucker puncher" 

rather than the actual testimony that Friel had "sucker punched" people in the past. The 

defense characterized Friel as a "sucker puncher" multiple times during closing: (1) 

"[t]he first thing [Randy] knows is that Eric is a sucker puncher," (2) "Randy also knows 

that Eric is a sucker puncher from the incident at the Castle Tavern," (3) "these are the 
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things that Randy knows about Eric and that he is a sucker puncher," and (4) "[h]ere's a 

few things for you to consider based on the evidence .... Randy is not a sucker 

puncher. That's Eric Friel." 

The prosecutor's response to the defense's portrayal of the testimony at trial was 

not improper because it did not mischaracterize the evidence. Rather the prosecutor 

was countering the defense's portrayal of the evidence, indicating that there was no 

testimony that Friel was a "sucker puncher." 

VI. 

Finally, Hamilton argues that he was denied the right to a fair trial based on the 

cumulative error doctrine. We disagree. 

"Cumulative error may call for reversal, even if each error standing alone would 

be considered harmless." Thorgerson, 172 Wn.2d at 454. The doctrine does not apply, 

however, "where the defendant fails to establish how claimed instances of prosecutorial 

misconduct affected the outcome of the trial or how combined claimed instances 

affected the outcome of the trial." Thorgerson, 172 Wn.2d at 454. 

Hamilton argues, in the alternative, that he was denied a fair trial because he 

"presented comprehensive evidence supporting his defense that he struck Friel in self­

defense."5 Hamilton argues that the evidence, coupled with the court's comment about 

"sucker punches," and the prosecutor's misconduct, in combination prejudiced 

Hamilton's ability to obtain a fair trial. 

5 Hamilton argues in his brief: "Hamilton presented comprehensive evidence supporting his 
defense that he struck Friel in self-defense. The evidence showed that Friel is known to remove his 
eyeglasses before fighting, that it was reasonable to interpret Friel's removal of his eyeglasses as a threat 
on December 11, that Friel fought more when he was drunk, that Friel was drunk that night, that Hamilton 
reasonably believed Friel was angry at Hamilton, that Hamilton had an injured back to protect, and that 
Friel had possible backup in his friend Camp, whereas Hamilton came outside alone. Yet the instructions 
removed self-defense from the jury by injecting the first aggressor instruction." 
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Since none of the alleged misconduct was improper, Hamilton failed to show how 

the combined effect of the alleged misconduct affected the outcome of the trial. 

We affirm. 

WE CONCUR: 

18 



DECLARATION OF FILING AND MAILING OR DELIVERY 

The undersigned certifies under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State 
of Washington that on the below date, the original document Petition for 
Review to the Supreme Court to which this declaration is affixed/attached, 
was filed in the Court of Appeals under Case No. 76819-1-1, and a true copy 
was mailed with first-class postage prepaid or otherwise caused to be 
delivered to the following attorney(s) or party/parties of record at their regular 
office or residence address as listed on ACORDS: 

~ respondent Erik Pedersen 
[ skagitappeals@co.skagit.wa.us] 
[erikp@co.skagit.wa.us] 
Skagit County Prosecuting Attorney 

~ Jesse Eldred 
Island County Prosecutor's Office 
[ICPAO_webmaster@co.island.wa.us][ j.eldred@co.island.wa.us] 

~ petitioner 

D Attorney for other party 

MARIA ANA ARRANZA RILEY, Legal Assistant 
Washington Appellate Project 

Date: April 17, 2019 



WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT

April 17, 2019 - 4:33 PM

Transmittal Information

Filed with Court: Court of Appeals Division I
Appellate Court Case Number:   76819-1
Appellate Court Case Title: State of Washington, Respondent v. Randy Eugene Hamilton, Appellant
Superior Court Case Number: 16-1-00019-2

The following documents have been uploaded:

768191_Petition_for_Review_20190417163142D1582147_1146.pdf 
    This File Contains: 
     Petition for Review 
     The Original File Name was washapp.041719-16.pdf

A copy of the uploaded files will be sent to:

ICPAO_webmaster@co.island.wa.us
erikp@co.skagit.wa.us
j.eldred@co.island.wa.us
jessee@co.skagit.wa.us
jessejeldred@gmail.com
marla@marlazink.com
skagitappeals@co.skagit.wa.us

Comments:

Sender Name: MARIA RILEY - Email: maria@washapp.org 
    Filing on Behalf of: Gregory Charles Link - Email: greg@washapp.org (Alternate Email:
wapofficemail@washapp.org)

Address: 
1511 3RD AVE STE 610 
SEATTLE, WA, 98101 
Phone: (206) 587-2711

Note: The Filing Id is 20190417163142D1582147

• 

• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 


	PFR for Filing w app Hamilton
	PFR Final Hamilton
	Appendix (single)
	768191 COA Opinion 3_18_19.pdf

	washapp.041719-16



